IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Haintiff Case No. 1:04-CR-165

VS. Hon. Robat Holmes Bl
Chief Didrict Judge

WESLEY MYRON BOSS,

Defendant

PROOF OF SERVICE

STATE OF MICHIGAN )
S
COUNTY OF KENT )

Amy Vedder, being first duly sworn, does hereby state and depose that a copy of the
Defendant’ s Motion to Sever was served upon Richard S. Murray, Assstant United States Attorney,
P. O. Box 208, Grand Rapids, MI 49501 by depositing a copy of same in the United States Mall,
postage prepaid, this___Day of November, 2004.

Amy Vedder

Subscribed and sworn before me
this__ Of November, 2004

Notary Public

My commission expires,




IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Haintiff Case No. 1:04-CR-165

VS. Hon. Robat Holmes Bl
Chief Didrict Judge

WESLEY MYRON BOSS,

Defendant

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO SEVER

1. Facts

On October 27, 2004, the government filed an 83 count indictment naming the defendant and
seven other individuals. One of the co-defendantsis the defendant’ swife. The defendant is charged
with mail fraud (counts 1-39), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1341 and 2, conspiracy to commit mail fraud
(count 40), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 371, conspiracy to commit money laundering (count 41), in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(a)(1)(A)(1), 1956(a)(1)(B)(1) and 1956(h), conspiracy to defraud the
United States (count 42), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 371, subgtantive money laundering (counts 43-57),
inviolation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(a)(1)(A)(1) and 2, monetary transactions derived from specified
unlawful activity (counts 59-65), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1957, and with forfeiture alegations (count

83), in violation of 18 U.S.C. 981(a)(1)( C), 28 U.S.C. 2461( ¢) and 18 U.S.C. 1341,



All of these dlegations arise out of the operation of an investment company caled Access
Financia Corporation. The operator of that company was Janet Mavis Marcusse. As the sentencing
factors aleged in the indictment, the defendant is not considered to have held aleadership role, to have
abused a position of trust, or to have obstructed justice. The defendant was alegedly employed by
Access Financia Corporation as a salesman and as a sdes manager between August of 1999 and April
of 2001. (Count 1; paragraph 4). The indictment alleges that the defendant recelved $173,758.13 in
commissions between November 24, 1999 and July 6, 2000. (Count 40; paragraph 4).

The defendant is married to one of his co-defendants Diane Renae Boss; the couple was wed
on December 11, 1999. (Count 1, para. 5).

For the reasons set forth herein, the defendant is respectfully asking this Court, pursuant to
Rules 8 and 14 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, to sever him from the other co-defendants
and to direct that he be separately tried.

2. Legal Principles

Rule 8(b) of the Federa Rules of Crimina Procedure states that the indictment may charge two
or more defendants in ths same indictment. Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of Crimina Procedure gives
thetrid court discretion to grant relief from prgudicid joinder.

In Zafiro v. United States, 506 U.S. 534 (1993), the United States Supreme Court noted that
thereis a preference in the federd system for joint trids of defendants who are indicted together. Joint
trids promote efficiency and limit therisk of incongstent verdicts. The Court aso held that “mutudly
antagonistic defenses’ are not prgjudiciad per-se. Thus, while such defenses may be considered when

deciding whether to sever or not, severance is not mandatory.



The Court stated that saverance should be granted if ajoint trid would compromise a specific
trid right of the defendant or prevent the jury from reaching areliable verdict. One of the specific tria
rights identified by the court was the risk that evidence of a co-defendant’s wrongdoing would lead the
jury to convict the defendant on that evidence rather than basing the verdict on specific evidence of the
defendant’ s own guilt.

Another example was a Stuation where many defendants are tried together in a complex case
and where thar rdlative degrees of culpability are much different. The Court dso cited aStuation
where evidence that is prgudicid as to defendant would only be technically admissible againgt a co-
defendant. The Court suggested that the trid court should consider whether limiting instructions would
dleviate the prgudice.

The Sixth Circuit has gpplied the principles set forth in Zafiro in anumber of cases. For
example, in United States v. Breinig, 70 F.3d 850 (61 Cir. 1995), the defendant was charged with
tax evasion in violation of 26 U.S.C. 7201. Also charged was the defendant’ s ex-wife. The defendant
moved to sever and for aseparate trid, arguing that he and his ex-wife had antagonistic defenses. The
digtrict court denied the motion, and the defendant was convicted. His ex-wife was acquitted. The
defendant renewed his argument in amotion for anew trid, but the trid court denied that motion as
well, reasoning that the defendant failed to show substantial or unfair prejudice because of the joint trid.

The ex-wife' s defense was diminished capacity. In order to prove the defense, the ex-wife
introduced highly prejudicid evidence of the defendant’ s bad character. This evidence would not have
been admissble if the defendant had been tried done. The Sixth Circuit reversed. The components of

its reasoning were:



A. Citing United States v. Warner, 971 F.2d 1189 (6™ Cir. 1992), the Court noted that Rule
8 envisoned that defendants indicted together would be tried together;

B. A defendant is not entitled to severance just because a separate trid would give the
defendant a better chance at acquittd;

C. Despitethese principles, atrid court has the discretion to sever adefendant if thereis
aufficient prgudice caused by thejoint trid;

D. A mutudly antagonigtic defenseis not prgudicia per-se;

E. The gppropriate inquiry is whether thereis“aserious risk thet ajoint trid would
compromise aspecific trid right of one of the defendants or prevent the jury from making areiable
judgment about guilt or innocence’. 506 U.S. at 539;

F. The character evidence introduced in support of the ex-wife' s diminished capacity defense
was highly prgudicid. The defendant was portrayed by expert testimony as being adulterous, mentdly
abusve, and manipulating;

G. Thisevidence serioudy undermined the defendant’ s credibility and would not have been
admissblein atrid where the defendant was the only defendant; and

H. The Court resffirmed that the decision to sever or not is entrusted to the sound discretion of
thetrid judge.

In United States v. Pierce, 62 F.3d 818 (6™ Cir. 1995), members of the Ku Klux Klan
burned a church. The defendant had sought to sever histria from a co-defendant. The district court
denied the motion, and the Sixth Circuit affirmed. The components of the Sixth Circuit’ s reasoning

were:



A. The defendant had argued that he was prejudiced because he and his co-defendant had
mutudly antagonistic defenses,

B. However, after Zafiro, mutualy antagonistic defenses are not a per-se reason to sever;

C. Such defenses can warrant a decision to sever, but that decision is entrusted to the sound
discretion of thetria court;

D. The Sixth Circuit rgjected a claim that FRE 404(b) evidence would not have comein if the
defendant had been tried alone. The Court concluded that the evidence could have been introduced as
motive evidence even if the defendant was the only defendant. Moreover, thetrid court issued limiting
ingtructions which were adequate to protect the defendant asto this evidence;

E. Asin Zafiro, the defendant argued that his co-defendant was claiming innocence and was
accusing the defendant of guilt; and

F. However, if thisisthe only dam, then limiting or cautionary ingtructions would usudly be
aufficient to focus the jury and iminate any unfar prejudice.

In United States v. Cope, 312 F.3d 757 (6™ Cir. 2003), two defendants were jointly tried for
attempted murder and firearms violations. Both defendants asked that the two defendants be severed.
On apped, they argued that “ rampant hearsay statements’ were introduced in ajoint trid. These
satements were made by one of the defendant’ s brother, a non-testifying co-defendant.

The Sixth Circuit upheld the district court’s refusal to sever. The Court noted that numerous
limiting ingtructions were given and that the defendants had not shown that the antagonistic defenses had

mided or confused the jury.



3. Discussion

The ringleader of the dleged conspiracy is co-defendant Janet Marcusse. Ms. Marcusse has
on anumber of occasions claimed her innocence and accused the defendant of being the reason why
her investment scheme failed. The defendant understands that mutualy antagonistic defenses are not a
per-se ground to sever. However, there are severd other factorsin this case which warrant adecison
by this Court to sever the defendant’ strid. Specificdly:

A. Ms. Marcusse and a number of the co-defendants are ardent tax protestors,

B. At her aragnment, Ms. Marcusse was very disruptive and argumentative, rasing many of
the meritless arguments that tax protestors commonly make;

C. Thereisevery reason to believe that Ms. Marcusse and severd of the other co-defendants
will make attempts to disrupt the trial or to present meritless tax protestor defenses. The defendant
would ask the Court to consider that the government has charged a conspiracy to defraud the IRS.
The tax charge when combined with defendants who are tax protestors will certainly create therisk of a
disruptive and confusing trid ;

D. Thedefendant is not atax protestor;

E. However, thejury isquite likely to be confused by the distractions caused by tax protestor-
defendants and may convict the defendant based on their conduct rather than upon the evidence that
the government actudly has againg him;

F. This Court has presided over numerous tax protestor trids and is fully aware of the
management and other problems that can emerge;

G. Thisisan extremely complex case;



H. There are literdly thousands of documents;

|. The aleged fraud supposedly involves numerous bank accounts and numerous effortsto lull
investors,

J. Thetrid will be difficult for the jury even under ided conditions;

K. The defendant is very concerned that ajoint trid with an ardent and vocal tax protestor
element will confuse and midead the jury and put the defendant at risk of being convicted for reasons
independent of the evidence againgt him;

L. Thisrisk isenhanced when Ms. Marcusse is attempting to shift blame away from hersdf and
onto the defendant. The complexity of thetrid and her tax protestor mentality create an unfair
prejudice that goes beyond asmple clam of mutudly antagonistic defenses;

M. Zafiro dated that one of the considerations for severance is a Stuation where thetrid is
about complex issues and where the relative culpability of the defendantsis different;

N. Theingant indictment charges various sentencing factors,

O. The defendant is not charged with having an enhanced role, with abusing trust, or with
obstructing justice. It isthus clear that hisrole, if any, isfar less culpable than other defendants and that
his circumstance fits within one of the severance reasons identified by the United States Supreme Court
in Zafiro;

P. Another consderation is that the defendant’ s defense will likely have, as one of its
components, the clam that he was unaware that Ms. Marcusse was running a Ponzi Scheme and that
the alegations againgt him have an innocent explanation. That defense requires the jury to assessthe

defendant’ s credibility. A joint trid of acomplex case with tax protestor overtones will confuse and



midead the jury and make it impossble, even with limiting ingtructions, for the jury to assessthe
defendant’ s credibility; and

Q. Ancther congderation isthat the defendant’ s wife is one of the co-defendants. In ajoint
trid, the defendant might wel be unable to testify and to give testimony which would be exculpatory
towards hiswife. However, if he was being tried separatdly from his wife, he could conceivably testify
and explain to the jury how his wife was deceived by Ms. Marcusse and why hiswife should not be
found quilty.

In sum, this case presents a Stuation that is far more complicated than asmple claim of
mutualy antagonistic defenses. The defendant is respectfully asking this Court to exerciseits discretion
and to sever histrid from thetrid of his co-defendants.

Conclusion

Pursuant to Rules 8 and 14 of the Federa Rules of Crimind Procedure, the defendant is

respectfully asking this Court to grant his motion to sever.
Respectfully submitted,
Grand Rapids, Ml
November_ 24, 2004
IS
Lawrence J. Phelan (P37493)
Haehnd & Phelan
200 North Divison Avenue

Grand Rapids, M| 49503
(616) 454-3834




